[bookmark: _GoBack]Case 2:15-cv-06942 Document 1 Filed 12/18/15 Page 1 of 29



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA





Civil Action No.Lisa Romain, Stacey Gibson, Joanika Davis, Schevelli Robertson, Jericho Macklin, Dameion Williams, Brian Trinchard, on Behalf of Themselves and All Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiffs,

v.

SUZY SONNIER, in her official capacity as Secretary of Louisiana Department of Children and Family Services,

Defendant.



CLASS ACTION










CLASS ACTION C O M P L A I N T


I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. Named plaintiffs and the class they seek to represent are indigent adult recipients of Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (“SNAP”), commonly known as food stamps, threatened with termination of their SNAP benefits, effective January 1, 2016, by the Louisiana Department of Children and Family Social Services (“DCFS”). These terminations result from the Defendant’s flawed and hasty implementation of a complex federal law limiting SNAP benefits to three (3) months in a thirty-six (36) month period for adults who are determined to be “Able-Bodied Adults without Dependents” (“ABAWD”), unless the adult meets defined work requirements.
2. For eighteen years, Defendant and her predecessors consistently sought and obtained a waiver of the ABAWD requirements from the United States Department of
Agriculture (“USDA”). The waiver was based on the state’s high unemployment. Early this
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year, Defendant chose, for the first time, notwithstanding a continuing high unemployment rate, to not renew the waiver. As a consequence, the waiver expired on September 30, 2015 and ABAWDs throughout the state became subject to the work requirements for the first time in 18 years.
3. However, as detailed below, Defendant failed to ensure that DCFS was equipped to handle the more than 62,000 SNAP recipients who would, all on October 1, 2015, become subject to the ABAWD requirements. As a consequence, Defendant’s  threatened terminations of SNAP results from the DCFS’s pattern and practices of failing to assure that only those properly subject to the time-limit are terminated by: a) failing to provide adequate notice of the termination of SNAP, effective January 1, 2016 to plaintiffs and those similarly situated; b) failing to provide adequate notice to plaintiffs and those similarly situated of the applicable requirements and exemptions and the processes by which individuals can claim exemptions from the ABAWD work requirements and/or show they are meeting such work requirements; and c) failing to fairly investigate, assess, and determine whether individuals are properly subject to the ABAWD time limit. As a result of these failures plaintiffs and those similarly situated are threatened with wrongful terminations of SNAP benefits. Defendant’s failures violate the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, 7 U.S.C. §2020 (e)(10) and implementing regulations, 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) and implementing regulations, and 7 U.S.C.
§ 2014 (a). Without continued access to SNAP as mandated by Due Process and federal law, these individuals face hunger and serious health risks.
4. Accordingly, plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, to challenge the defendant’s policies and practices of terminating individuals without the notice and procedures mandated by the Food Stamp Act and implementing
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regulations and the Due Process Clause to assure Defendant’s fair and lawful application of the

SNAP time limit.

5. Plaintiffs seek declaratory and permanent injunctive relief to enjoin the defendant, in her official capacity as Department Secretary, from terminating SNAP benefits without complying with Due Process and federal law.
6. Further, plaintiffs seek a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction to stay Defendant from terminating SNAP for any ABAWD household based on the three month limit until such time as she can demonstrate to this Court that DCFS can operate the ABAWD program in conformity with the Food Stamp Act, implementing regulations, and the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution.
II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. The Court’s subject matter jurisdiction over this action is conferred by 28 U.S.C.

§ 1331.

8. Declaratory relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201(a) and 2202, and by Rule 57 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Injunctive relief is authorized by Rule 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
9. This action is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to redress deprivations of the

plaintiffs’ constitutional and federal statutory rights.

10. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this judicial district and because one or more of the Plaintiffs resides in this judicial district.
III. PARTIES

11. Plaintiff Lisa Romain resides in New Orleans, Louisiana.
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12. Plaintiff Stacey Gibson resides in New Orleans, Louisiana.

13. Plaintiff Joanika Davis resides in New Orleans, Louisiana.

14. Plaintiff Schevella Robinson resides in New Orleans, Louisiana.

15. Plaintiff Jericho Macklin resides in New Orleans, Louisiana.

16. Plaintiff Dameion Williams resides in New Orleans, Lousiana.

17. Plaintiff Brian Trinchard resides in New Orleans, Louisiana.

18. Defendant Suzy Sonnier is the Secretary of the Louisiana Department of Children and Family Services and is sued in her official capacity. As Secretary, Defendant is responsible for, inter alia, the statewide operation and administration of the Louisiana Food Stamp Program, in compliance with the federal Food Stamp Program. La. R. S. §36.477 (B) (1).
IV. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

19. Plaintiffs are SNAP recipients who sue on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, pursuant to Rule 23(a) and (b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
20. The plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and on behalf of a class defined as follows:
All Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program recipients who have received or who will receive a notice from Defendant terminating their SNAP benefits because they have received SNAP for 3 out of 36 months without meeting the Able-Bodied Adult without Dependents work requirement.

21. The plaintiff class is so numerous that joinder is impracticable.

22. There are questions of law and fact common to the proposed class, including whether defendant’s policies and practices of terminating SNAP recipients without first determining whether they are correctly subject to ABAWD requirements deprives eligible individuals of SNAP in violation of the Food Stamp Act and implementing regulations and the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution.
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23. The named plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the plaintiff class. The named plaintiffs and members of the class are SNAP recipients whom Defendant has determined are subject to the ABAWD requirements and time limit and have received notices that they are subject the time limit.
24. The named plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the proposed plaintiff class. In supporting their individual claims, the named plaintiffs will simultaneously advance the claims of absent class members.
25. Plaintiffs’ counsel are experienced in complex class litigation involving public benefit programs and civil rights laws. Counsel have the resources, expertise and experience to prosecute this action on behalf of the plaintiff class.
26. Plaintiffs’ claims satisfy the requirements of Rule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, in that defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the proposed class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief and declaratory relief with respect to the proposed class as a whole.
V. STATUTORY AND REGULATORY SCHEME

A. Federal Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program Purpose and Administration

27. Congress established the federally funded, state-administered Food Stamp Program in 1964, to “safeguard the health and well-being of the Nation’s population by raising levels of nutrition among low-income households.” Pub. L. No. 88-525, § 2, 78 Stat. 703 (codified at 7 U.S.C. § 2011). In order to “alleviate . . . hunger and malnutrition,” Congress enacted the Food Stamp Program to “permit low-income households to obtain a more nutritious diet through normal channels of trade by increasing food purchasing power for all eligible households who apply for participation.” Id.; 7 C.F.R. § 271.1.
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28. Effective October 1, 2008, the federal Food Stamp Program was renamed the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) and the federal Food Stamp Act was renamed the Food and Nutrition Act of 2008. Food, Conservation, and Energy Act of 2008, Pub. L. No. 110-246, §§ 4001 and 4002, 122 Stat. 1651, 1853-1860.
29. At the federal level, SNAP is administered by the USDA’s Food and Nutrition Service (“FNS”).
30. The federal government provides complete funding to the states for all benefits under SNAP, and at least 50% of the states’ administrative costs involved in their operation of the program. 7 U.S.C. §§ 2013(a), 2019, 2025(a); 7 C.F.R. §§ 277.1(b), 277.4.
31. Each state must designate a single state agency responsible for administering SNAP and complying with federal food stamp statutory and regulatory requirements. 7 U.S.C. § 2020(a), (d), and (e); 7 C.F.R. §§ 271.4(a), 277.4. The state agency’s responsibilities include the certification of eligible applicant households and the issuance of food stamp benefits to those households. 7 U.S.C. § 2020(a)(1), (e).
32. Louisiana participates in SNAP. DCFS is the single state agency responsible for administering SNAP in Louisiana, in compliance with federal statutes and implementing FNS regulations. La. R. S. § 36.477 (B) (1).
B. Overview of Federal SNAP Food Stamp Program (SNAP)

1. General Eligibility Requirements

33. To be eligible for SNAP, a household’s gross non-excludable income must not exceed 130% of the federal poverty line, and its net income, after specified allowable exclusions and deductions, must be below the federal poverty line. Households with an elderly person or a person with a disability must only meet the net income test. 7 U.S.C. § 2014(c).
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34. The maximum monthly SNAP benefit for a household of one is $194.

http://www.fns.usda.gov/snap/eligibility.

35. In addition to meeting the income and assets tests in the federal SNAP law, households must comply with other eligibility requirements, such as those in 7 U.S.C. § 2015, including the work requirement for ABAWDs in subsection (o).
36. The state agency must determine the eligibility of applicant households and certify their eligibility in accordance with the eligibility rules and procedures set forth in the federal Food Stamp Act and implementing regulations. See generally, 7 U.S.C. § 2014 (a); 2020
(e) (3), (4), (9) and implementing regulations at 7 C.F.R. Part 273.

37. The state agency must certify households as eligible for a specified period of time, and households must then renew their eligibility (also called recertification) to receive SNAP for subsequent periods. 7 C.F.R. § 273.10(f); 7 U.S.C. § 2020 (e)(4); 7 C.F.R. § 273.14.
38. Eligible households may be subject to requirements that they file periodic reports on their circumstances, according to the reporting system option chosen by the state, one of which is known as “simplified reporting.” 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (c); 7 C.F.R. § 273.12 (A)(5).
39. 7 U.S.C. § 2014 (a) requires that “[a]ssistance under this program shall be

furnished to all eligible household who make application for such participation.”

2.	Requirements Regarding Work and Time-Limits for Able-Bodied Adults Without Dependents


40. 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) (2) provides that no individual is eligible for SNAP if during the preceding 36-month period, the individual received SNAP for not less than 3 months (consecutive or otherwise) during which the individual did not engage in work as defined in 7
U.S.C. § 2015 (o) (2) (A)-(C) or receive benefits pursuant to (o) (3)-(6) . The implementing
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regulation is 7 C.F.R. § 273.24. This provision is commonly known as the ABAWD 3 month- time limit.
41. A State must implement 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) (2) unless it applies for and gets the approval of the USDA Secretary for a waiver pursuant to subsection (4). Such waiver may apply to any group of individuals in the State if the USDA Secretary determines that the area in which the individuals reside has an unemployment over 10% or does not have enough jobs to provide employment for the individuals.
42. As set forth in the following paragraphs, 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) and its implementing regulation, 7 C.F.R. § 273.24, have detailed provisions defining the work requirement, exemptions from the work requirement, how months count toward the time limit, good cause for an individual’s temporary failure to meet the work requirements, and how an individual who has lost eligibility can regain eligibility.
43. Pursuant to 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) (2) (A) – (C), the work requirement is defined as

a. working 20 or more hours a week, averaged monthly (7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) (2) (A));
b. participating in and complying with the requirements of a work program for 20 hours or more a week, as determined by the state agency; a work program means a program under title I of the Workforce Investment Act of 1998; a program under section 236 of the Trade Act of 1974; and a program of employment and training, other than a job search or job search training program, operated or supervised by a State or political subdivision of a State that meets standards approved by the Governor of the State, including activities under the State Employment and Training Program under 7 U.S.C. 2015 (d)(4) ((7 U.S.C. §
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2015 (o) (2) (B) and (o) (1)); or

c)	participating in and complying with the requirements of a workfare program under 7 U.S.C. § 2029 or a comparable program established by the State or political subdivision of the State (7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o)(2)(C)).
44. Pursuant 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) (3) (A) – (E) and its implementing regulation, 7

C.F.R. § 273.24 (c), individuals are exempt from the work requirement if they are: 1) under 18 or over 50 years of age; 2) medically certified as physically or mentally unfit for employment; 3) a parent or other member of a household with responsibility for a dependent child; 4) otherwise exempt from general SNAP work requirements under 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (d) (2), as implemented by 7 C.F.R. § 273.7 (b) (including on the basis that they are complying with the work requirements of another program or receiving unemployment compensation); or 4) a pregnant woman.
45. 7 C.F.R. § 273.24 (b)(1) defines countable months for purposes of determining the 3-month time limit as months in which an individual receives benefits for the full month while not 1) exempt under § 273.24 (c); 2) covered by a waiver under 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o)(4); 3) fulfilling the work requirement in 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o)(2); or receiving SNAP benefits that are pro-rated in accord with 7 C.F.R. § 273.10.
46. 7 C.F.R. § 273.24 (c) provides for a good cause exception for individuals who could not comply with the 20 hour a week average requirement because of temporary
circumstances beyond the individual’s control, including but not limited to “illness, illness of another household member requiring the presence of the member, a household emergency, or the unavailability of transportation.”
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47. 7 U.S.C. § 2015(o) (5) and its implementing regulation, 7 C.F.R. § 273.24 (d) prescribes how an individual who has lost eligibility under subsection (2) can regain and maintain eligibility.
48. On November 19, 2015 USDA’s Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) issued guidance to States regarding the “ABAWD Time Limit Policy and Program Access.” http://www.fns.usda.gov/sites/default/files/snap/ABAWD-Time-Limit-Policy-and-Program- Access-Memo-Nov2015.pdf. The purpose of the guidance is to explain what the Food Stamp Act and implementing regulations require of the states in implementing the ABAWD requirement.
49. The November 19, 2015 FNS Guidance states that: “To comply with Federal law, States must do more than track ABAWDs. States must also carefully screen for exemption from the time limit and connect ABAWDs to the information and resources necessary to maintain eligibility consistent with federal requirements.” Id. at 1.
50. The November 19, 2015 FNS Guidance also states that: “State agencies are responsible for assessing an individual’s fitness for work methodically and comprehensively. The certification and recertification interview is critical in identifying fitness for work.” Id. at 2.
51. The November 19, 2015 FNS Guidance further summarizes the good cause exception for failure to meet the ABAWD work requirement, how individuals can meet the work requirements, and how individuals can regain eligibility after losing it. Id. at 2-4.
C. Notice and Hearing Requirements

52. When a state agency proposes to reduce or terminate a household’s SNAP

benefits, federal law requires the agency to provide the household with opportunity for a fair
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hearing and continued benefits until the hearing decision. 7 U.S.C. §2020 (e)(10) and implementing regulations 7 C.F.R. §§ 273.13, 273.15.
53. 7 C.F.R. § 273.13(a), which is one of the regulations that implements 7 U.S.C. § 20202(e)(10), requires the state agency to send “timely and adequate advance notice” before
taking any action to terminate or reduce a household’s benefits within its certification period. As to adequate notice, § 273.13(a)(2) provides , in relevant part, that the “notice of adverse action shall be considered adequate if it explains in easily understandable language: The proposed action; [and] the reason for the proposed action.”

VI. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

A. Facts Common to the Class

54. Until September 30, 2015, Louisiana had a USDA-approved waiver of the federal ABAWD time limit requirement. Defendant declined to seek a renewal of the waiver, and as of October 1, 2015 the ABAWD time limit requirement took effect throughout the state.
55. Louisiana has informed USDA’s Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) that it has 62,780 ABAWDs.
56. Defendant issued policies and procedures regarding SNAP Time-Limits for ABAWDS. Office of Family Support, CH. 4 B-1470 (November 1, 2015). According to the policies, the DCFS worker must determine if the household includes an ABAWD at application, at the midpoint of the certification period (simplified report), and at redetermination; and at these times, the policies provide for automatically sending an automated notice about the policy to each ABAWD. The policies also provide for an ABAWD Interviewing Guide for the agency worker to use in interviewing the household and a checklist to assist in the ABAWD determination. Id. at B-1476.
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57. However, Defendant’s policies do not address how the DCFS worker was to make the initial determination of ABAWD status on October 1, 2015 for ongoing cases that did not have an initial application, simplified report, or recertification pending when the new ABAWD time limit requirement took effect.
58. In September 2015, DCFS sent out generic letters, titled “Important Information

About the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) Time Limit” (herein “Information Letter”) about the new ABAWD Work Requirement that was to take effect on
October 1, 2015 to those SNAP recipients whom it had determined subject to the new rule. The letter said “You are getting this letter because our records show that you are age 18 through 49 and have to meet new work rules called the Able-Bodied Adult without Dependents (ABAWD) work requirement starting October 1, 2015.” The Information Letter briefly described the new rule, the exemptions, and how to meet the requirement. It also gave a telephone number for assistance.
59. The Information Letter did not explain how or whether DCFS had determined that the recipient was already meeting the work requirement, what a recipient must do to show compliance with the work requirement or to claim an exemption, or how or when to present any information or claim to the agency. The Information Letter only stated that an ABAWD subject to the work requirement had to report changes (by the 10th of the month after the month when the change occurred) in hours worked if the changes resulted in the ABAWD working an average of less than 20 hours per week.
60. The Information Letter says that an exemption applies to those who “have a physical or mental disability that keeps them from working.” (emphasis added). This “disability” test imposes a stricter test than the exemption in 7 U.S.C. § 2015(o)(3)(B), which exempts those
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“medically certified as physically or mentally unfit for employment.” See also, 7 C.F.R. 273.24 (c)(2).
61. Defendant’s Information Letter, in explaining that a person can meet the ABAWD work requirement by “working in a job for 20 hours or more each week”, does not explain that work includes work in exchange for goods or services (not just money) and unpaid or volunteer work.
62. As indicated by the facts of the named Plaintiffs below, DCFS did not provide additional information to those subject to the new requirement that would allow them to understand how the new rule applied to them individually, whether DCFS considered them to be in compliance with the new rule, how they could seek an exemption or demonstrate compliance, and when they could or should assert such claims or otherwise show compliance with ABAWD requirements
63. As indicated by the facts of the named Plaintiffs below, Defendant’s practices in implementing the new ABAWD requirement, effective October 1, 2015, for the tens of thousands of recipients it concluded were subject to the requirement were deficient because they failed to include in practice a fair system for 1) investigating the current status of individual recipients; 2) seeking relevant current information from such recipients to inform the agency’s decision of an individual’s status; 3) providing adequate information to individuals about exemptions, numerous means of complying with the work requirements, and the existence of good cause for temporarily failing to comply with the work requirements; 4) providing and using effective processes by which individuals could provide relevant information to the agency and receive determinations from the agency of their status, including determinations of whether the
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individual had good cause for temporary failure to comply with the work requirement; and 5) informing recipients of those processes and how to access them.
64. On or about December 1, 2015 DCFS sent out generic notices of SNAP Change/Closure (Termination Notice) telling the recipient that SNAP will end 12/31/2015 “due to a sanction” to, upon information and belief, more than 50,000 persons. The December 1, 2015 notice stated that the named individual is disqualified as of January 1, 2016 because he or she received SNAP for 3 out of 36 months without meeting the work requirement. The Termination Notice	does not explain the availability of a good cause exception for individuals who could not comply with the 20 hour a week average requirement because of temporary circumstances
beyond the individual’s control, including but not limited to “illness, illness of another household

member requiring the presence of the member, a household emergency, or the unavailability of transportation” as required by 7 C.F.R. § 273.24 (c). The Termination Notice refers to exemptions without explaining them and has no individualized information about how the individual failed to meet the work requirement or qualify for an exemption.
B. Facts of Individual Named Plaintiffs

Lisa Romain

65. Lisa Romain is 49 years old. She lives with her husband, Kurt Romain, in Kenner, LA.
66. Ms. Romain worked for approximately 20 years for the United States Postal Service until 2008, when she had to resign, due to being diagnosed with serious medical conditions leading to physical impairment.
67. Ms. Romain and her husband Kurt Romain constitute the same SNAP household.

After she stopped working because of her medical conditions in 2008, Mr. and Ms. Romain
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began to receive $234 per month in food stamp benefits. The Romain household recertifies its SNAP eligibility each year and has continued to receive $234 each month.
68. Mr. Romain receives $1,314 each month in Social Security Disability Insurance (“SSDI”) benefits. The Romain household has no other income except for this SSDI check and their monthly food stamps.
69. In September 2015, a DCFS caseworker asked Kurt for verification of Lisa’s

medical condition. The reason for the request was unclear to Kurt.

70. In response to the caseworker’s request, Mr. and Ms. Romain obtained a letter from Daughters of Charity, a healthcare provider where Lisa Romain has been receiving medical care since 2011. The letter states that Ms. Romain is unable to work due to her medical condition.
71. A few days later, Kurt Romain brought the Daughters of Charity letter to the DCFS office and gave it to the front desk staff. The staff looked up his name in the database and said she would give the letter to their caseworker. The Romains have not heard back from DCFS regarding the letter.
72. In October 2015, Lisa received a letter from DCFS telling her about the ABAWD work requirements. The letter did not state that SNAP benefits would be terminated.
73. Ms. Romain did not think that the October 2015 letter applied to her because her husband had already given DCFS the letter about her medical conditions and their effects on her ability to work, in September 2015.
74. Lisa and Kurt received a letter dated December 8, 2015, which DCFS sent to both Mr. and Mrs. Romain, stating that Lisa will be disqualified from receiving SNAP benefits beginning January 1, 2016, because she was not meeting the ABAWD work requirement.
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75. The December 8, 2015, letter said that Lisa “must work an average of 20 hours per week or participate in a job training at least 20 hours per week. In order to regain eligibility for SNAP, [she] must work or participate in a job training program at least 80 hours in a 30-day period or become exempt from the SNAP time limit.” The letter also informed them that their household’s food stamps will be reduced to $24 each month since Lisa will lose all her benefits.
76. On December 14, 2015, Kurt went back to the DCFS office to submit another letter, dated December 14, 2015, from Daughters of Charity. The letter states that Lisa is unable to work due to her medical condition. The Romains have not heard back from DCFS.
77. In December 2015, Lisa visited an attorney, who helped her to request a fair hearing regarding the food stamps reduction. She has not received a hearing date.
78. Lisa Romain depends on food stamps to survive. She does not have any other source of income. Her filed application for SSDI benefits was denied in 2014. She is unable to apply for SSI, because Kurt’s SSDI allotment places them over income. Kurt’s SSDI benefits represents the only other income that they are able to depend on for rent, utilities and medications that they both need. If their food stamps are terminated, they will have difficulty meeting their nutritional needs.
Stacey Gibson

79. Stacey Gibson is 43 years old. He has been homeless and living at the Salvation Army Homeless Shelter in New Orleans, Louisiana since 2013.
80. Mr. Gibson first applied for SNAP with DCFS in 2013. When he applied, Mr. Gibson stated on his application that he was homeless and gave the Salvation Army as his address.
81. Mr. Gibson receives $194 each month in SNAP.

82. Ms. Gibson has recertified several times for SNAP and neither his address nor his homeless status has changed.
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83. In October 2015, Mr. Gibson received a letter from DCFS telling him about the ABAWD work requirements. Mr. Gibson continued to try to find work as he had already been doing.
84. In December, Mr. Gibson received another letter from DCFS, telling him that he will no longer be getting SNAP as of January 1, 2016, because he was not meeting the ABAWD work requirement.
85. Mr. Gibson has have been looking for work, but has found it hard to find work in New Orleans. But, Mr. Gibson has not given up and continues to apply.
86. Mr. Gibson volunteers at the First Presbyterian Church for a few hours per week, but did not keep a record of her hours because he did not know that volunteer work could count as work to help him remain eligible under the new work requirements. Mr. Gibson learned of this for the first time when Sima Atri, from the New Orleans Workers’ Center for Racial Justice, came to speak at a church Mr. Gibson attends.
87. Mr. Gibson was not told how to go about showing that his volunteer work at First Presbyterian Church may count as work. He also never thought to record hours because he did not know that it would qualify as work.
88. The notices that Mr. Gibson received did not explain the manner in which to report volunteer time, to explain good cause for not finding work, or that being homeless may exempt him from the ABAWD rules.
89. Mr. Gibson has does not have any other income; he needs SNAP to survive.

Joanika Davis

90. Ms. Davis was diagnosed with a serious psychological condition in 2012.

91. She take strong medications during the day and night, which make it very difficult to work. Her medications interfere with daily life activities.
92. Even finding unpaid work has alluded Ms. Davis as a result.
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93. Ms. Davis began receiving SNAP from the DCFS in 2012 after she was diagnosed and she receives $194 a month. She has been recertified for the same amount each year.
94. In June 2015, Ms. Davis was recertified for SNAP. Her recertification interview was on the phone. There was no live person. Ms. Davis called a number and answered questions that the computer asked her.
95. Ms. Davis could not discuss the impact of her medical condition with anyone during the recertification because it was an automated process.
96. In September 2015, Ms. Davis received a letter from DCFS that said that she would need to work to keep getting SNAP.
97. Ms. Davis tried many times to reach a worker at DCFS but kept getting automated messages. She was unable to get through to anyone.
98. Because Ms. Davis does not have and cannot afford transportation, she could not go the DCFS office.
99. In December 2015, Ms. Davis received a closure notice from DCFS telling her that her SNAP will be stopping beginning January 1, 2016, because she was not meeting the ABAWD work requirement.
100. Ms. Davis is not able to work. Ms. Davis was not informed by Defendant as to how she was supposed to meet the work requirement with her medical problems. Moreover, had Defendant screened Ms. Davis, she would have discovered that Ms. Davis was unfit to work and, therefore, exempt.
Schevella Robertson

101. Schevella Robertson is 47 years old. She lives in New Orleans, Louisiana.
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102. She has been receiving food stamps most of her life. In October 2015, she received a notice from DCFS, stating that she would lose her SNAP benefits unless she met the ABAWD work requirements.
103. Prior to October 2015, Ms. Robertson had been working at Dollar Tree for three months, earning approximately $125 every two weeks.
104. In October 2015, she required a number of surgeries, which made it difficult for her to work, especially at Dollar Tree, since her job involved lifting heavy boxes.
105. Ms. Robertson told her caseworker by phone about her surgeries at the time they happened, because she knew the surgeries would make it hard for her to work. She told her DCFS caseworker that she could not work and had to quit her job because of her surgeries. The caseworker said she would need to work.
106. In December 2015, she received a DCFS notice informing her that her food stamps would be terminated beginning January 1, 2016, because she was not meeting the ABAWD work requirements.
107. After receiving the December 2015 notice, she called the number listed on the notice, but was not able to speak to anyone. Ms. Robertson was able to make an appointment to speak with her caseworker, but not until the morning of December 16, 2015. When she spoke with her caseworker, Ms. Robertson reminded the worker about her surgeries and about how that had made it hard to work. The case worker told her that since she had not worked from October to December, 2015, her food stamps would be terminated three months after October 1st.  She did not ask for a fair hearing, because the date had passed for the receipt of continued benefits, by the time her case worker had called me back.
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108. Ms. Robertson is now able to work, but has not yet been able to find another job.

When she spoke with her caseworker, the worker didn’t tell her that she could do volunteer work

while she looked for paid work. Ms. Robertson is able to do volunteer work, and wants to.

109. Ms. Robertson spoke with Sima Atri at the New Orleans Workers’ Center for Racial Justice, who explained how volunteer work qualifies as work for the ABAWD work requirements. Ms. Robertson plans to start recording the hours of volunteer work she does, cleaning up her community. She will send her hours of work to DCFS, so that they are aware that she is completing 20 hours of work per week, which the October 2015 notice stated as an ABAWD requirement.
110. On December 16, 2015, after speaking with Sima Atri, Ms. Robertson called her caseworker, to ask about volunteer work satisfying the ABAWD work requirement. The caseworker told her that volunteer work or community service did not count as work for the ABAWD work requirement. She explained that even if Ms. Robertson performed 20 hours of volunteer work per week, she would not be meeting the work requirements.
111. On December 16, 2015, the caseworker also told Ms. Robertson that her food stamps had already been terminated. Ms. Robertson received the December “Adverse action” notice, but has still been receiving food stamps money during December 2015.
112. It is difficult for Ms. Robertson to pay cash for food. Her daughter pays Ms.

Robertson’s rent of $50 per month, because she cannot afford to stay where she is living.. Losing my food stamps will increase the burden on her and her children. She has 11 children. She needs stamps to survive and take care of herself.
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Jericho Macklin

113. Plaintiff Jericho Macklin is 37 years old and lives alone in New Orleans, Louisiana.
114. Mr. Macklin used to work more than twenty (20) hours per week as a cook. In September 2015, he was diagnosed with a serious medical condition. He takes several medications that affect his short term memory, make him drowsy and cause him to have difficulties sleeping. When he became ill, he had to reduce his working hours to ten (10) hours per week.
115. He has been receiving SNAP periodically for many years from DCFS. He currently receives $194 each month in SNAP benefits.
116. Due to issues with his memory, Mr. Macklin does not recall getting a letter from DCFS in October. He does remember receiving a letter from DCFS in December 2015, telling him that his SNAP will terminate, because he is not meeting ABAWD work requirements.
117. No DCFS worker has explained to Mr. Macklin how to satisfy the ABAWD work requirements. No one at DCFS told him that his medical status might make him unfit for work and eligible to keep getting SNAP.
118. On December 12, 2015, after receiving the December letter informing him of the termination of his SNAP benefits, Mr. Macklin requested a fair hearing, with the assistance of an attorney. In this fair hearing request, he informed DCFS about his medical status.
119. On December 16, 2015, he received a call from a DCFS worker, who informed him that his benefits would terminate on December 31st.
120. He applied for a fair hearing before the deadline outlined in the December letter, so that his benefits would continue until his medical status would be assessed at his hearing, with
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respect to whether he would be exempted from the ABAWD work requirements. The DCFS worker told him that although he had applied for a fair hearing, his benefits would still terminate on December 31st.
121. On December 16, 2015, the DCFS worker also told Mr. Macklin that his health conditions would not have an effect on whether he would remain eligible as an ABAWD. The worker stated that the only relevant factor was whether or not he was working 20 hours a week. DCFS added that a medical note from a doctor stating that he was unfit for work was not sufficient to prove the effect of his medical condition on his fitness for work. Mr. Macklin had previously provided DCFS with a letter from his doctor with his diagnosis and medications.
122. Because he can only work approximately ten (10) hours per week due to his medical condition, Mr. Macklin does not have enough income to support himself without assistance. He depends on SNAP to meet his nutritional needs. He also has to take medications for his medical condition along with food.
Dameion Williams

123. Dameion Williams is 34 years old. He has lived at the Ozanam Homeless Shelter in New Orleans, LA.
124. Mr. Williams has been volunteering approximately 60 hours per week at Ozanam Inn since October 2015, working in the kitchen. After speaking with Sima Atri from the New Orleans Workers’ Center for Racial Justice, he has been recording his volunteer hours, in order to verify his continued eligibility for food stamps. He is using the DCFS volunteer hours form and Ozanam Inn will verify his work hours. Mr. Williams submitted the volunteer hours form to DCFS on December 16, 2015.
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125. Before he began volunteering at Ozanam, Mr. Williams worked as a cook for a restaurant. The restaurant closed for renovations and he was laid off. He has been applying for work, but has not been able to find another job as a cook.
126. In approximately September 2015, Mr. Williams applied for food stamps at the DCFS office in New Orleans. I got $194 in food stamps in September and in October.
127. When he applied for food stamps, a DCFS caseworker told Mr. Williams that he would only get benefits for three months unless he found a job or enrolled in school.
128. Mr. Williams did not know that his volunteer work for Ozanam could count as work, for purposes of ABAWD eligibility. His caseworker did not tell him that volunteer work may satisfy the ABAWD work requirement.
129. Mr. Williams has not received any food stamps in December 2015. He received a closure letter in December, which stated that he would continue to receive food stamps until January 2016.
130. Mr. Williams does not have any other income. He needs food stamps to help survive.
Brian Trinchard


131. Brian Trinchard is 43 years old. He has been living at Ozanam Homeless Shelter in New Orleans, Louisiana, since August 2015.
132. Mr. Trinchard volunteers at Ozanam Homeless Shelter about sixty (60) hours per week in the kitchen. He volunteers cleaning tables, setting people up to eat, working at the front desk, and keeping the center organized. He gets a weekly stipend of $15. He has no other source of income.
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133. Before he was incarcerated Mr. Trinchard worked periodically in construction for many years. He came to Ozanam Homeless Shelter soon after he was released in August, 2015.
134. In September 2015, Mr. Trinchard applied for food stamps at the DCFS local office. He was approved for $194 per month.
135. When Mr.Trinchard met with a DCFS caseworker during the SNAP application process, he was told that he would receive food stamps for only three (3) months unless he got a job or enrolled in school.
136. His caseworker did not ask Mr. Trinchard during the initial application if he was doing volunteer work. No DCFS worker informed him during his application process that his volunteer work at Ozanam Homeless Shelter might make him eligible to keep getting food stamps after the three month ABAWD period. For this reason, Mr. Trinchard did not report this information to his caseworker.
137. Mr. Trinchard received food stamps in October and November 2015.

138. In December 2015, he got a letter from DCFS telling him that his food stamps will end because he is not meeting the ABAWD work requirements.
139. When Mr. Trinchard got the December 2015 letter, he immediately went to Job One to register for work. He has not yet been called for work. When he get paid work, Mr. Trinchard still is unaware of how to inform DCFS that he is working and meeting the work requirements, so that his food stamps can continue.
140. On December 15, 2015, Sima Atri from the New Orleans Workers’ Center for Racial Justice informed Mr. Trinchard that he should submit a record of his volunteer hours to DCFS, to demonstrate that he has been working over 20 hours per week. He has now recorded
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his hours and they have been verified by Ozanam Inn. and Mr. Trinchard plans to send them to DCFS.
141. Mr. Trinchard needs his food stamps to help survive. He already lives in a shelter because he cannot afford rent.
VII. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF


FIRST CLAIM:

142. Defendant’s policy and practice of sending inadequate termination notices to ABAWDs violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 7 U.S.C. § 2020 (e) (10) and its implementing regulation, 7 C.F.R. § 273.13(a)(2).
SECOND CLAIM:

143. Defendant’s policy and practice of terminating SNAP recipients without providing such recipients at the time of implementation of the new ABAWD requirement on October 1, 2015 with adequate notice and accurate information about the new requirement, how to meet the requirement, how to demonstrate compliance to the agency, how to claim an exemption, the existence of good cause for failure to comply temporarily and how to claim good cause, and how to regain eligibility after reaching the time limit violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 7 U.S.C. § 2015(o) and its implementing regulation, 7 C.F.R. § 273.24, and 7 U.S.C. § 2014(a).
THIRD CLAIM:

144. Defendant’s policy and practice of terminating SNAP recipients without having done an individual investigation, assessment and determination of the status of each SNAP recipient and without having a fair system to inform recipients about the new eligibility rules and
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provide an opportunity for individuals to demonstrate their compliance, their eligibility for an exemption, and their eligibility for a good cause exception violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) and its implementing regulation, 7 C.F.R. § 273.24, and 7 U.S.C. § 2014 (a).
REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:

A. Assume jurisdiction of this matter;

B. Certify this action as a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a) and (b)(2) with respect to the proposed class identified herein;
C. Enter a declaratory judgment, in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 2201 and Fed. R. Civ.

P. 57, declaring that the defendant’s policies and practices of:

i) failing or refusing to send adequate termination notices to ABAWDs violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 7 U.S.C. § 2020 (e) (10) and its implementing regulation, 7 C.F.R. § 273.13(a)(2).
ii) terminating SNAP recipients without providing them at the time of implementation of the new ABAWD requirement on October 1, 2015 adequate notice and accurate information about the new requirement, how to meet the requirement, how to demonstrate compliance to the agency, how to claim an exemption, the existence of good cause for failure to comply temporarily and how to claim good cause, and how to regain eligibility after reaching the time limit violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) and its implementing regulation, 7 C.F.R. § 273.24, and 7 U.S.C. § 2014 (a); and
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iii) terminating SNAP recipients for non-compliance with the ABAWD requirement without having done an individual investigation, assessment and determination of the status of each SNAP recipient and without having a fair system to inform recipients about the new ABAWD eligibility rules and provide an opportunity for individuals to demonstrate their compliance, their eligibility for an exemption, and their eligibility for a good cause exception violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, 7 U.S.C. § 2015 (o) and its implementing regulation, 7 C.F.R. § 273.24, and 7 U.S.C. § 2014 (a).
D. Enter a temporary restraining order and preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2202 and Fed. R. Civ. P. 65, to stay Defendant from terminating SNAP for any ABAWD household based on the time limit as of January 1, 2016 and thereafter until such time as she can demonstrate to this Court that DCFS can operate the ABAWD program in conformity with the Food Stamp Act, implementing regulations, and the Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution.
E. Award plaintiffs their costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C.

§ 1988; and

F. Order such other, further, or different relief as the Court may deem just and

proper.

Dated: December 18, 2015 New Orleans, Louisiana


Respectfully submitted,


William P. Quigley #07669 Loyola University New Orleans College of Law
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7214 St. Charles Avenue New Orleans, LA 70118 Cell 504.710.3074
quigley77@gmail.com

Jennifer J. Rosenbaum
jjrosenbaum@nowcrj.org
Admitted to Practice in the Eastern District of Louisiana
La. Bar No. 31946
Sima Atri
Alaska Bar # 1512121
satri@nowcrj.org
NEW ORLEANS WORKERS’ CENTER FOR
RACIAL JUSTICE
217 N. Prieur St.
New Orleans, LA 70112 Telephone: (504) 309-5165
Facsimile: (504) 309-5205

NATIONAL CENTER FOR
LAW & ECONOMIC JUSTICE, INC.
Marc Cohan* Mary R. Mannix* Greg Bass*
Francisca D. Fajana*
275 Seventh Avenue, Suite 1506 New York, NY 10001
Tel: (212) 633-6967


Counsel for Plaintiffs and Proposed Class Counsel

By:	William P. Quigley
William P. Quigley

*Pending pro hac vice admission


Counsel for Plaintiffs and Proposed Class Counsel
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Motion for Class Certification and accompanying Memorandum of Law in Support of the Motion was served by United States Mail, postage pre-paid, on the following this 18th day of December, 2015.




By:	William P. Quigley
William P. Quigley


Counsel for Plaintiffs and Proposed Class Counsel
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DECLARATION

I, Lisa Romain, hereby declare under the pains and penalties of perjury the following to be true and correct:

1. I make the following statement based on personal knowledge·.

2. I am 49 years old. I live with my husband, Kurt Romain, in Kenner, LA.

3. I worked for about 20 years for the United States Postal Service until 2008 when I had to resign. I had been sick for a number of years but then had to leave when my conditions got progressively worse. I was diagnosed with a serious skeletal disorder, a hormonal disease, and a sleep related disorder. I have severe pain in my legs, knees and feet which make it difficult for me to stand for an extended period of time. I also have high blood pressure.

4. I am part ofmy husband, Kurt Romain's, SNAP household. We receive $234 a month in food stamp benefits.

5. My husband, Kurt, is on SSDI and gets $1,314.00 each month. Our household has no other income except for Kurt's SSDI check and our monthly food stamps.

6. In May 2015, our LA Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) caseworker asked Kurt for verification of my medical condition. When I asked Kurt why she needed that information, he told me that she might be a new worker.

7. In response to the caseworker's request, Kurt obtained a letter from Daughters of Charity Health Centers, a healthcare provider where I have been getting medical care since 2011, saying that I am unable to work due to my medical condition.

8. A few days later, Kurt brought the Daughters of Charity letter to the DCFS's office and gave it to the front desk staff.

9. In October 2015, Kurt received a letter from the DCFS telling us about Able Bodied Adults Without Dependents (ABAWD) work requirements. The letter did not require a response from us.

I 0.		I did not think that the ABAWD letter applied to me because Kurt had already given DCFS a letter about my medical conditions and their effects on my ability to work in May.

11. In early December, we received a letter dated December 8, 2015, from DCFS stating that I will be disqualified from receiving SNAP benefits beginning January 1, 2016, because I was not meeting the ABAWD work requirement. I have attached the letter as # 1.

12. The DCFS December 8, 2015, letter said that I "must work an average of20 hours per week or participate in a job training at least 20 hours per week. In order to regain eligibility for SNAP, [I] must work or participate in a job training program at least 80 hours in a 30-day period or become exempt from the SNAP time limit."

13. The DCFS December 8, 2015, letter also informed us that our household's food stamps will be reduced to $24 each month since I will lose all my benefits.

14. No one at DCFS has contacted me to explain how I should go about satisfying the ABAWD work requirement with my medical condition.

15. Kurt brought another letter dated December 14, 2015, from the Daughters of Charity Health Centers stating that I am "currently unable to work due to [my] condition" to the DCFS office after we received the December 8 food stamps reduction letter. I have attached the Daughters of Charity letter as #2.

16. In December 2015, Kurt and I met with a lawyer to get legal help with our food stamps reduction. They helped me request a fair hearing. I do not yet have a hearing date. I do not know what will happen as of January 1, 2016, when our food stamps will be only $24.

17. I do not have any other source of income. My application for Social Security Disability which I submitted in 2014 was denied because I applied too late. I cannot apply for SSI because Kurt's SSDI puts us slightly over-income.

18	I depend on Kurt's SSDI as our sole source of income other than food stamps. If my food stamps are stopped, we will not be able to eat.

19. I am willing to serve as a class representative in this lawsuit on behalf of myself and other low-income individuals living in Louisiana who face the loss of SNAP benefits to which they are entitled.

20. My lawyers have informed me of my responsibilities as a class representative.

21. As a representative of a plaintiff class harmed by the same unlawful conduct, I am willing to protect and advance the interests of the plaintiff class rather than acting in my sole interest.
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KENNER, LA 70065


Action Taken On Your SNAP case

/\ction or proposed action on your Supplemental Nut,ition Assistance Program (SN/\P) case is lislecl below rn,cl
explr11!1  1 :1d in tile 11Reason 11   section.

You are eligible to receive SN/\P benefits f01 the monlh(s) of 07/20 I::, to 06/2016.

Beginning Ot/201<1. you will 1eceive $24 in SN/\P benefits each rnonlll. These arnnunls may Ix, dille1eml if your household is in allotment reduction.

You are requi10d to report if your h01Isehold's ,Jross monthly incnrne increases to more IIHan $127Ci. I his includes reporting the income of a peIson who moves inlo yolll I ,ome if their income combined with yr,,11 householcl's income exceeds this amount. You may wait to 1ep1J1i all other rlmnges until you, nexl redetermination or simplified repoIi, whicheveI comes first.

A child wl,o is a member of a l1ousehnld receivinq assistance from SN/\P 01 FITAP may be eligi!Jl,e 101  free meal benefits al school. You should r.ontact  yot11 local school for infonrmtion Oil  flPf' 111enl bP!IP[il·. 101 school meals.

neason:

Lisa Romain is being disqualified beginni11q Janurny 20'1f3 as hP or she has received SN/\P l.lenefils Joi J
of 36 months without meeting the AhleBodied Adults Without Depenclents(ABAWIJ) woI1< requirement. SNAP requirements are that nonexempt able bodied peIsons age 1849 without dependents must worl< n11 average of 20 hours per weel< or participate in a job training prooram at least 20 hours per weel<. In 01cle1 to regain eli Jibility for SNAP, he 01 she must work 01pa1iicipate in a job training pro,Jram al IP,ast 80 hours in a 30 clay period or become exempt from the SNAP time limit.

For more information about programs ancl services 01 for spe,cific information about your case, call 1-888- LAHEU"U ('I -888-524-3578)


TAMIKA COOK	 	
Agency Representative
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Daughters of Charity Health Centers



Gentilly□


□	Metairie

□	Bywater
I030 Lesseps Street

Uptown
3201 S. CatTollton Ave

D East
5640 Read Blvd. Ste 520 New Orleans, LA 70127 Telephone 504.248.5357
Fax:	504.248.5377

100 Warnngton or.	New  I lI t'-!·_Causeway Blvd. Orleans, LA 70117		 Metame, LA 7000I Telephone 504.207.3060	Telephone:  504.482.0084
Fax:	504.207 3067	Fux:	504.483.6018

New Orleans, LA 70117 Telephone: 504.941. I 531
Fax:	504.941.9991

New Orleans, LA 70118 Telephone: 504.207.3060
Fax:	504.207.3067




Date: 12/14/2015

To Whom It May Concern:
Lisa J Romain	is under my care and
0	was seen at the health center today.

D	is released to return to work on

D	is unable to return to work at this time because:




D	is able to rel1irr1 to school on

D	is not able to participate in the P.E. program at school.

0	has the following restrictions:
Patient is currently under care at our facility, and she is currently unable
to work due to her condition.


D	other:
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Eva Blanche Centanni, !\ID	0


Our values are: Service oftlte poor, Jlevere11ce, I11tegrity, Wisdom, Creativity, 1Jedlcatio11



DECLARATION

I, Kurt Romain, hereby swear under pains and penalties of perjury that the following is true and correct:

1. I make the following statement based on personal knowledge.

2. I am 51 years old. I live with my wife, Lisa Romain, in Kenner, LA.

3. I am on Social Security Disability Income of $1,314 net each month. Prior to getting on SSDI, I worked for almost 20 years for the United States Postal Service. I got sick and then had to leave my job.

4. I am head of household for our food stamps benefits. I have been receiving food stamps since 2010. My wife, Lisa Romain, has been a member ofmy food stamps household since we started getting benefits. We receive $231 a month.

5. In May 2015, my caseworker at LA Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) called me asking for the first time that I needed to get a letter verifying my wife, Lisa's medical condition.

6. I later got a letter dated May 26, 2015, from DCFS requiring Lisa to "register for work at a website (www.laworks.net)." The letter also requested that I provide information no later than 6/5/2015. I am attaching the letter as #1.

7. About a week after I got the May 26 DCFS letter, I went to the food stamps office in Metairie, LA, to provide a letter from Daughters of Charity Health Centers, where Lisa receives care for her medical condition. I went up to the counter when my number was called. The front desk staff looked up my name in the database and took and the Daughters of Charity Health Center letter from me.

8. There was no interruption to our food stamps. In October 2015, I received a letter from the DCFS telling me about Able Bodied Adults Without Dependents (ABAWD) work requirements.

9. The ABAWD letter seemed like a generic letter and was sent to everyone and does not apply to me because I had already given DCFS a letter about Lisa's medical conditions and their effects on her ability to work in May.

10. On December 2, 2015, I got an email notification from DCFS asking me to go the cafe to retrieve a message. I went to the cafe but could not get the message. On the same day, I went to the food stamps office to let them know that I could not retrieve the email message.

11. On or about December 8, 2015, I went back to the food stamps office to get details about the email notification. The front desk staff looked me up in the computer and said that I needed to do a simplified report, which she helped me complete.

11. I then asked at that meeting on December 8 ifl needed to also provide verification of Lisa's medical condition. The front desk staff said yes. I told her that Lisa had a doctor's appointment at the Daughters of Charity on December 14. I asked ifl could bring in the doctor's verification after the Lisa's appointment and she said that was fine.

12. A day after I met with a DCFS worker regarding my simplified report, I got a DCFS letter dated December 8, 2015, stating that my household's food stamps will be reduced to $24 because Lisa will be disqualified from receiving SNAP benefits beginning January 1, 2016. The letter stated that Lisa was not meeting the ABAWD work requirement.

13. As I said I would, I dropped off to DCFS a letter dated December 14, 2015 from Daughters of Charity Health Centers stating that Lisa "is currently under care and is currently unable to work due to her condition." The Daughters of Charity letter is attached to Lisa's Declaration.

14. In December 2015, we met with a lawyer to get legal help with the food stamps reduction. They helped me request a fair hearing.

15. My SSDI check is not sufficient to meet my needs and Lisa's. Our monthly expenses are about $1300. Our rent alone is $1,050, with utilities, our medications, and other needs, we barely have $30 left at the end of the month.

16. If our food stamps are stopped, we will not be able to eat. Lisa and I do not have any other source of subsistence.


Dated: ff"	Signed: K	Romain

From: Kurt Romain karoma316@icloud.com Subject: Fwd: DCFS Notification Center
Date: December 17, 2015 at 11:02 AM
[image: ]To: Satri@nowcrj.org


Sent from my iPhone Begin forwarded message:
From: noreR1y@dcfs.IB,.gov
Date: December 2, 2015 at 8:54:48 AM CST
To: !s_arorriJ!M6@icloud.com Subject: DCFS Notification Center


Hello,
A notification has been placed in your CAFE Customer Portal Notifications Folder. Please log in to your CAFE Customer Portal Account to view this notification using the link: .LQ9in.19...QAEJ;_Q_ustomer Portal.

You can also copy and paste the CAFE Customer Portal website address in your internet browser. htt.ps-//cafe-c gov/seltservice




Thank you,
D.9. lliWY.@dcfs.la.gQY




Note:Please do not reply to this message. Mail sent to this address cannot be answered.

DECLARATION

I, Stacey Gibson, hereby swear under pains and penalties of perjury that the following is true and correct:

1. I make the following statements based on personal knowledge.

2. I am 43 years old. I live at the Salvation Army Homeless Shelter in New Orleans, LA. I have been homeless and living at the shelter since 2013.

3. I volunteer at the First Presbyterian Church. I have been volunteering a few hours a week. I have not been keeping a record of my hours because I did not know that volunteer work could count as work to help me remain eligible under the new work requirements. The first time I learned about this was when Sima Atri, from the New Orleans Workers' Center for Racial Justice, came to speak at a church I attended.

4. I have been looking for work, but it is hard to find work in this city. There are just not enough jobs for everyone who is looking for work. I have not given up though and continue to apply.

5. I first applied for food stamps with the Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) in 2013. When I applied, I indicated that I was homeless. I also gave the Salvation Army as my address.

6. I get $194 each month in food stamps. I have recertified several times for food stamps and my address or homeless status has not changed.

7. In October 2015, I got a letter from DCFS telling me about Able Bodied Adults Without Dependents (ABAWD) work requirements. The letter did not tell me that my food stamps would be cut off so I did not contact DCFS. I continued to try to find work as I had already been doing.

8. In December, I got another letter from DCFS, telling me that I will no longer be getting food stamps as of January 1, 2016, because I am not meeting the ABAWD work requirement.

9. I do not know how to go about showing that my volunteer work at First Presbyterian Church may count as work. I also never thought to record hours because I did not think it would qualify as work. The notices that I read did not explain this.

10. I do not have any other income. I need my food stamps to survive. It is so unfair to cut people off from food stamps when they do not have work, because that is the time in their lives when they are just trying to get on their feet.

11. I am willing to serve as a class representative in this lawsuit on behalf of myself and other low-income individuals living in Louisiana who face the loss of SNAP benefits to which they are entitled.

12. My lawyers have informed me of my responsibilities as a class representative.

13. As a representative of a plaintiff class harmed by the same unlawful conduct, I am willing to protect and advance the interests of the plaintiff class rather than acting in my sole interest.


Dated: f)._' 11 · 15	Si	ne	}) Stacey Gibson


DECLARATION

I, Joanika Davis, hereby swears under pains and penalties of perjury that the following is true and correct:

I. I make the following statement based on personal knowledge.

2. I am'// years old. I live in New Orleans, LA.

3. I was diagnosed with a serious psychological condition in 2012. I take strong medications during the day and night, which make it very difficult to work. My medications sometimes make me talk in my head and it makes it hard to drive and sleep. Even finding unpaid work has been difficult. When I disclose my disorder and medication to employers they do not seem interested in hiring me. I feel like I need to disclose this to employers because I need to take medication for it.

4. I began receiving food stamps from the Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) in 2012 after I was diagnosed. I get $194 a month. I have been recertified for the same amount each year.

5. In June 2015, I was recertified for food stamps. My recertification interview was on the phone. There was no live person. I called a number and answered a bunch of questions that the computer asked me. I could not discuss the impact of my medical condition with anyone during my recertification because it was an automated process.

6. In September 2015, I received a letter from DCFS that seemed to say that I would need to work to keep getting food stamps. I was very anxious when I got the letter and called the 866 number listed on the letter.

7. I tried many times to reach my worker or someone at DCFS but kept getting automated messages. I did not get through to anyone. I have no method of transportation so I did not go the DCFS office.

8. In December 2015, I received a letter from DCFS telling me that my food stamps will be stopping beginning January 1, 2016, because I was not meeting the Able Bodied Adults Without Dependents (ABAWD) work requirement. The December DCFS letter is attached as# I.

9. I am not able to work. No one at DCFS has told me how I am supposed to meet the work requirement with my medical problems. I have tried to discuss the impact of my medical problem with someone at DCFS but I cannot get through to anyone.

10. No one at DCFS told me that my disorder might make me exempt from work requirements. I thought I had to be getting SSI to be exempt from work.
11. I applied for SSI in 6101':l My application is still pending.
12. DCFS also sent me another closure notice in December saying that I am not eligible for food stamps because I am over-income. I have no income and have not reported any income to DCFS. I live alone, although, sometimes, my 22-year­ old daughter visits with me but she is not a member of my household. I do not understand how I can be over-income when I made no income. I live in public housing and get clothing and other needs met through Hope House.

13. I have been extremely depressed since I got the DCFS letter ending my food stamps. I am very worried about how I would feed myself if I no longer have food stamps. I feel like l may need to resort to extreme measures just to feed myself. I desperately need food stamps to survive.

14. I am willing to serve as a class representative in this lawsuit on behalf of myself and other low-income individuals living in Louisiana who face the loss of SNAP benefits to which they are entitled.

15. My lawyers have informed me of my responsibilities as a class representative.

16. As a representative of a plaintiff class harmed by the same unlawful conduct, I am willing to protect and advance the interests of the plaintiff class rather than acting in my sole interest.



Dated: 18'· lq.•ol01S

Joanika Davis
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DCFS ORLEANS- MIDTOWN -ES PO BOX 260031
BATON ROUGE, LA 70826-0031

JOANll<A DAVIS
-	NEWor,LEANS, LA 70130

DATE: CASE ID:
WORKER ID: CID,

12101/2015
36 kln\,1/,6530
E72 000121597
002439


SNAP   CHANGE /CLOSURE


Dear JOAl'lIKA DAVIS:
[image: ]

After careful consideration of your situation, tl1e following decision has been made regarding your Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) case:
Your mont·hly benefit will end 12/31/2015 for the reasons gJ.ven
below.
A  member  of  your  household  has   been  disqualified   due to   a  sane!· ion, The earned income of a member of your  household  changed.  The  :·:elf­ ernployrnent income and/or expenses of a member of your househu.Ld chr.1nged.

,JOANIKA DAVIS is beinq disqualified beginninq ,January as he or ?lie
has recPived SNAP benefits for 3 of 36 months without meeting t.}le Able-Bodied  Adults  Without   Dependents ( ABAWD)   work r1:. qu1.rement,	SNAP n.'.?qu.irements  are  that non  exempt   able   bodied   persons   a.qe   18---49 without dependents must work an average of 20 hours per week o.r
participate .i.n a job training prog.ram at least 20 hours per wee]<.. In order to regain eligibility for SNAP, he or she must work o.r part.i.cj_pate in a job training program at least 80 hours in a 30 day period   or   become exempt  from the	SNAP t.ime limit..

Tl1e receipt of a Loui.siana Purchase Automated Benefit card does riot
mean  you  have  been  deterrn.i.ned  eligible for benefil:.:3,	If you do
r.s c-:i.ve  t+.L:: card, keep- it	to	use   if -yDu are	foun,-:-!   elig-ib.J.e    to receive benefits .i.n the future.	For  more infonnation	1bout programs and services or for specific i11formatio11 about your case, calJ.  1.-888- LAHELPU ( l-888--524-3578),

A child who  is	a member of	a househoJ d receiving assistance from SNAP or   FITAP  may  be  eligible  for  free  meal  benefits  at schor1 I	You should contac your J.ocal  school for information 011  free meal be11efi.ts for school mea.lf-;;,

FAIR   !ffiARlNG  EXFL/\NA'rION

CASE In:	36 XXXXX65J(J	NAME,	JOANIKA DAVIS

If you disagree wlth the above d cision, yot1 may discuss it t,vith  a supe1:visor in	the local Depa.rtment of Child1en- and Family Services,	You   may   .rer111est.   a  fai1·  hearing  but  you must  dr_}   so	on	or before 02/29/2016.If your be11efits are being redt1ced or c]_1)serl a11d
you	req1lest a fai.r Hearing 011  or  before  J.2/14/2015, your  benefits  can be continued at  the  current  level  u11less  you  indicat  youdo not want them  continued.	If   your   benefits are  continued,  they	-1ill be
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continued at that. lE: vel until the hearinq or the end of your
certification period whichever iB Booner.
A fair hearinq may be requested by cornplet.in9 the section below and   mailing   it   or  deLLverinq   it   .to   the local  DCF'S.	Yon may be represented at. the henr.ing by an authorized repref:1entative, r:;uch ns
leqal counsel, rel1:1tive, friend, or other spokesperson, or you may represent yourself.	For free legal advice, caJ.l (504) 529-1000.	In the space  provided,  qive  the  renson  you are  1:equestin9  a  fair hearing.
COMPLETE   AND   SIC;N ONLY  IF	YOU WISH TD REQIJES'r A FAIR HEARINC;.

Complete this section nnd sign below if you wish to appeal the
decision on your case.
oo you want to continue receivinq the amount of benefits you now
receive until the hearinq'?	( ) yes	( ) no
If the final decisi<JD is in your favor, retroactive benefits will be issued    if    approprictte.	IF   THE    DECISION    OF   THE    LOC:AL   OFFICE    IS UPHELD' ALL INELIGIBLE BENRFI'rs WILL RE SUB,JECT 'I'll REPAYMENT.

Use this space to tell why you want a hearing. 'l'he reason:






Signature	Date	Phone No.
OR


signature of Authorized RepreElent.at.ive


Addrer.--rn of Authorized Representative




City	State	Zip Code
Return to:


.,   --- ----------------



DCFS ORLEANS- MID'rCJWN -ES
p_.o, BOX 260031
JJA'rON ROUGE, LA 70826-0031

DECLARATION

I, Schevella Robertson, hereby swears under pains and penalties of perjury as follows:

1. I make the following statement based on personal knowledge.

2. I am 47 years old. I live in New Orleans, LA.

3. I have been receiving food stamps most of my life. In October, I received the notice stating that I would lose my food stamps unless I met the work requirement.

4. Prior to October, I had been working at Dollar Tree for 3 months making approximately $125 every two weeks. However, in October I had to have a number of surgeries. These surgeries made it hard for me to work, especially at Dollar Tree since my job involved lifting heavy boxes. I told my caseworker by phone about my surgeries right when they happened because I know the surgeries would make it hard to work. I told my caseworker that I could not work and had to quit my job because ofmy surgeries. My caseworker said I would need to work. She said I would have to work for money.

5. In December, I received the notice from the Department of Children and Family Serivces (DCFS) informing me that my food stamps would be terminated beginning January 1, 2016 because I was not meeting Able Bodied Adults Without Dependents (ABDWD) work requirements.

6. After receiving that notice, I made an appointment to speak with my caseworker. I called the number on my notice. I was not able to speak to anyone when I called but made an arpointment. I did not get an appointment until the morning of December 16'. When I spoke with my caseworker, I reminded them about my surgeries and about how that had made it hard to work. My case worker told me that since I had not worked from October to December, my food stamps would be

terminated three months after October s1 t•


I did not ask for a fair hearing because

the date had past for continued benefits by the time my case worker called me back.

7. I am now able to work but have not yet been able to find another job. When I spoke with my caseworker she didn't tell me that I could do volunteer work while I looked for work. I am able to do volunteer work, and want to. I spoke with Sima Atri at the New Orleans Workers' Center for Racial Justice and she explained how volunteer work qualifies as work. I will start recording the hours of voltmteer work I do cleaning up my community. I will send my hours of work into DCFS, so that they are aware that I am completing volunteer work every week.

8. On December 16th after speaking with Sima Atri, I called my case worker back to ask about the volunteer work. My case worker told me that volunteer work or community service did not count as work. She explained that even ifI did 20 hours of volunteer work a week I would not be meeting my work requirements.

9. My case-worker on December 16th also told me that I had already been cut off. I received the December "Adverse action" notice, but still have been getting food stamps money this month. I thought my benefits were not getting cut till January
1s t	th

· But on December 16 off.

, my case-worker verified that I had already been cut


10. It is hard paying cash for food- I barely can make ends meet- my daughter pays my rent of $50 per month because I cannot afford to stay where I am at. Losing my food stamps will increase the burden on my children. I have 11 kids and I don't want to be a burden on my family when I really need stamps to survive and take care of myself.

11. I am willing to serve as a class representative in this lawsuit on behalf of myself and other low-income individuals living in Louisiana who face the loss of SNAP benefits to which they are entitled.

12. My lawyers have informed me of my responsibilities as a class representative.

13. As a representative of a plaintiff class harmed by the same unlawful conduct, I am willing to protect and advance the interests of the plaintiff class rather than acting in my sole interest.

Dated: l 'Lt 1 15	[image: ]
Schevella Robertson

f-'aoe Io



DCFS ORLEANS-- MIDTOWN -ES
P.O. BOX 260031
BATOM ROUGE, LA 70826--0031

SCHEVELLI ROBERTSON
--	MEW ORLEANS,  LA 70119

DATE CASE ID:
WORKER ID: CID:

1210'1/2015
36 "'"""* 469'1
JQG
000119'162
002153


SNAP CHANGE/CLOSURE

Dear SCHEVELLI ROBERTSON:

Adv1:1.nce Notice of Adversr=> Act.,:Lon E;,q_d.res: 12/14/ '.( 1[ 1- )

Afl·er careful cor1Dideration  of your  situation,  the  follu1-  irHJ  dec.iRi,)n has been made regarding your Supplemental N11tri tion  Assis I.ance Program r ·1 :NAP	) case:

)'our monthly benefit will be
for	the renson(s) given below.

$125.00 effective lJliOJ/201G


SCHEVELLI ROBERTSON is	being disqualified beginning 1Januai:y  as  he  or she has received SNAP benefits for 3 of 36 rnontlis wit.111 ,ut. meeting the Able--Bodied Adnlt.s Witi1out Dependents ( ABAWD) work requirement-..	SNAP
.requirements are that non-exempt able bodied persons age 18-49
without dependents must work an average o.f 20 hours per  week  or participate  in  a  job training  pro.gram   at   least  20 hours  per  wee.k.	In order   to  regain  eligibility  for SNAP,  he   or	she   must   work   01 participate in a job training program at least BO hours in a 30 dr:ty period or become exempt from the SNAP time lim.i.t.

'l'he receipt of a Louisiana Purchase  Automated  Benefit  ca.rd.  does  not mean you   have  been  determined  eligible for benefits.	If you do receive  this  card,   keep  it	to  use if you	are	found eligibJ.e  to receive   benefits   in the future,	For more information about progn-nns and services or for specific .i.nfonnation about your case, call 1-RBR-·
LAHELPU (l-888-524-3578).

A. child whois a member nf a hnllRPhnJd recei.virlg asRi Rtnnce front SNA:1-'
fir FITAP may be eligible for free meal benefits at school. You shonld
,.:ontacl· your local school :for information on free meal benefit.B [nr school meals.
FAIR   HEARING   EXPLANA 'ION
CASE rn,	36   XXXXX4691	NAME:	SCHEVELLI ROBER'ISCll"I
If	you disagree with the above decision, yo11  rna.y  diHcuss  il wit.h a supervisor in the local Department of Child1en and  F,1m:\ ly Oervices.		You may reques L a fair hearing but  yon mus l:  do :.;i,  on 01: before 02/2q/2016.If youi benefits are being reduced or closed a11d
you	request a    fair Hearing  on  or  before  12/14/2015,   your  behefits can
be continued  at   the  current.  level  'Unless  you  i.ndica.te  you do  not w;int.
them continued.	If your benefits are continued, they will be continued c1t that level until the hearing or the end of yoLu: certification period whichever is sooner.
A fair hearing may be requested by completing the sect.i.on below
And mailing it  or delivering it  to the local DCFS.	You may be
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represented at the hearing by an authorized representative, such as legal counsel, relative, friend, or other spokesperson, or you may represent yourself.	For  free legal advice, call (504)   529-1000.	In the space provided, give the reason you are requesting a fair hearing.

COMPLETE AND SIGN ONLY IF YOU WISH TO REQUEST A FAIR HEARING.
Complete this section and sign below if	you wish to appeal the
decision on your caae.

Do you want to continue receiliJg the
receive  until  the hearing?	(l..J yes


amount-of benefits you now
( ) no

If the final decision is in your favor, retroactive benefits will be issued if appropriate.	IF THE DECISION OF THE LOCAL OFFICE IS UPHELD, ALL INELIGIBLE BENEFI'rS WILL BE SUBJECT TO REPAYMENT.
[image: ]Use this space to tell why you want a hearing.	The reason:A,l'C( 1 , oPI[ o1a
J Z i '1 /5 
Date
.5,,l/: .51..5 ·9a 
Phone No.

•.
Signature of Authorized Representative Address of Authorized Rep"resentative City	State	Zip CodeOR

Return to:

DCFS ORLEANS- MIDTOWN -ES
P.O. BOX 260031.
BATON ROUGE, LA 70826-00J.1

DECLARATION

I, Jericho Macklin, hereby swear under pains and penalties of perjury that the following is true and correct:

1. I make the following statement based on personal knowledge.

2. I am 37 years old. I live in New Orleans, LA.

3. I used to work more than twenty (20) hours per week as a cook at New Orleans Hamburger and Seafood. When I became ill I had to drop down to ten (10) hours per week.

4. In September 2015, I was diagnosed with a serious medical condition. I take several medications that affect my short term memory, make me drowsy and cause me to have difficulties sleeping.

5. I have been receiving food stamps on and off for many years from the Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS). I currently get $194 each month.

6. I do not recall getting a letter from DCFS in October. My memory issues make it hard for me to remember things. But I do remember receiving a letter from DCFS in December 2015, telling me that my food stamps will end because I am not meeting work requirements. The letter is attached as# 1.

7. No one at DCFS told me how to satisfy work requirements. No one at DCFS told me that my medical status might make me unfit for work and eligible to keep getting food stamps.

8. When I got the December letter ending my food stamps, I spoke with a lawyer. They helped me request a fair hearing on December 12th • In this fair hearing request, I informed DCFS about my medical status.

9. On December 16'1\ I received a call from the Department of Children and Family
Services. DCFS told me that my benefits would terminate on December 31st I applied for a fair hearing before the deadline outlined in my letter so that my•

benefits would continue until my hearing when they could determine how my medical status impacts my status to be exempted from the new work requirements. DCFS said that although I had applied for a fair hearing, my benefits would still terminate on the 31st•


10. I provided DCFS with a letter from my doctor explaining my diagnosis and medications. DCFS said they wanted another letter from the doctor saying that my medications counteract with my diagnosis and impede my ability to work.

11. Because I can only work about ten (10) hours per week due to my medical condition, I don't have enough income to support myself without assistance. I depend on food stamps to eat. I have to take medications for my medical condition. Taking these medications is a matter of life and death for me. I have to take them for the rest of my life. These medications must be taken along with food. I also have to eat to remain healthy. I need my food stamps to survive because I will be forced to choose between my life-saving medicines and food.

12. I am willing to serve as a class representative in this lawsuit on behalf of myself and other needy individuals living in Louisiana who face the loss of SNAP benefits to which they are entitled.

13. My lawyers have informed me of my responsibilities as a class representative.

14. [image: ]As a representative of a plaintiff class harmed by the same unlawful conduct, I am willing to protect and advance the interests of the plaintiff class rather than acting in my sole interest.



Dated:12- lz  15·r	r,	;


f'age 1



DCFS ORLEANS- MIDTOWN -ES
P.O. BOX260031
BATON ROUGE, LA 70826-0031

/W/&&f#c?bt
-	NEW ORLEANS, LA 70126

DATE: CASE ID:
WORKER ID: CID:

12/01/2015
36 .. tt•9900
C16
001140033
[image: ]001834


. -, ··., .-


SNAP CHANGE/CLOSURE

Dear JERICHO MACKLIN:
Advance Notice of Adverse Action Expires:	12/14/2015
A.Et:8X  careful  c,,r1slderatlon  of  yol.lr  situation,  the   following   d!.::l:cision has been made regarding your Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) case,
Your monthly benefit will end 12/31/2015 for the reasons given below.
A member of your household has been disqualified due to a sanction. Your shelter expenses, which may include rent or mortgage, home insurance, prope:rty tax, utilities, or other shelter expenses, have changed.

JERICHO MACKLIN is being disqualified beginning January as he or she has received SNAP benefits for 3 of 36 months without meeting the Able-Bodied Adults Without Dependents(ABAWD) worJt requirement.	SNAP requirements are that non-exempt able bodied persons·age 18 49 without dependents must work an average of 20 hours per week or participate in a job training program at least 20 hours per week.	In order to regain eligibility for SNAP, he or she must work or participate in a job training program at least 80 hours in _a 30 day period or become exempt from the SNAP time limit.

The receipt of a Louisiana Purchase Automated Benefit card does not mean you have been determined eligible for benefits.	If	you do receive this card, keep it to use if you are found eligible to receive benefits in the future.	For more information abouc )?rog:rains and services or for s)?ecif1c information about your case, call 1-888- LAHELPU (1-888-524-3578).

A child who is a member of a household receiving assistance froll) SNAP or FITAP may be eligible for free meal benefits at school. You should contact your local school for information on free meal benefits for school meals.
FAIR HEARING EXP.Li\JllATION
CASE ID:	36 XXXXX9900	NAME:	JERICHO MACKLIN
If you disagree with the above decision, you may discuss it with a su)?ervisor in the local Department of Children and Family services.	You may request a fair hearing but you must do so on or before '02/29/2016.If your benefits are being reduced or closed and you request a fair Hearing on o-r before 12/14/2015, your benefits can be continued at the current level unless you indicate you do not want. them continued.	If your benefits are continued, they will be

Page 2 of:


..continued .at..that. level until th<i;_ .hea.dDg  or...:tbe end of    your certification period whichever is sooner.
A fair hearing may be requested by completing the section below and mailing it or delivering it to the local DCFS.	You may be represented at the hearing by an authorized representative, such as legal counsel, relative, friend, or other spokesperson, or you may represent yourself.	For free legal advice, call (504) 529-1000.	In the space provided, give the reason you are requesting a fair hearing.
COMPLETE AND SIGN ONLY IF YOU WISH TO REQUEST A FAIR HEARING.
complete this section and sign below if you wish to appeal the decision on your case,
Do you want to continue receivinn e amount of benefits you now receive until the hearing?	(yl'y;	( ) no

If the final decision is in your favor, retroactive benefits will be issued if appropriate.	IF THE DECISION OF THE LOCAL OFFICE IS UPHELD, ALL INELIGIBLE BENEFITS WILL BE SUBJECT TO REPAYMENT,
Use this space to tell why you want a
The reason:


Signature of Authorized Representative Address of Authorized Representative

City Return to:.

state	Zip code

DCFS ORLEANS- MIDTOWN -ES
P.O. BOX 260031
BATON ROUGE, LA 70826-0031

DECLARATION

I, Dameion Williams, hereby swears under pains and penalties of perjury that the following is true and correct:

I. I make the following statement based on personal knowledge.

2. I am 34 years old. I live at the Ozanam Homeless Shelter in New Orleans, LA. I have been at the shelter since October 26, 2015.

3. I have been volunteering about 60 hours a week at Ozanam Inn since October 2015 working in the kitchen. After speaking with Sima Atri from the New Orleans Workers' Center for Racial Justice, I am recording my hours so that I may report my continued eligibility for food stamps. I am using the volunteer hours form made by DCFS to record hours and Ozanam Inn will verify my work

hours. I have submitted the form to the agency on December 16th•


I have attached

the form as# I.

4. Before I started volunteering at Ozanam, I worked as a cook for a restaurant. The restaurant closed for renovations and I was laid off. I have not been able to find another job as a cook. I have been applying but no one seems to be hiring.

5. Around October 2015, I applied for food stamps at the Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) office in New Orleans. I got $194 in food stamps in October and November.

6. When I applied for food stamps, I recall that my caseworker told me that I would only get benefits for three months unless I found a job or enrolled in school.

7. I did not know that my volunteer work for Ozanam could count as work. My caseworker did not tell me that volunteer work is a job that may make me eligible to keep getting food stamps.

8. I have not received any food stamps in December. I received a closure letter in December but it said I would continue to receive food stamps until January.

9. I do not have any other income. At a very basic level, I need food stamps to help me survive.

I 0.		I am willing to serve as a class representative in this lawsuit on behalf of myself and other low-income individuals living in Louisiana who face the loss of SNAP benefits to which they are entitled.

11. My lawyers have informed me of my responsibilities as a class representative.

12. As a representative of a plaintiff class harmed by the same unlawful conduct, I am willing to protect and advance the interests of the plaintiff class rather than acting in my sole interest.


[image: ]Signed: uh
Damieon Williams

DECLARATION

I, Brian Trinchard, hereby swear under pains and penalties of perjury that the following is true and correct:

1. I make the following statements based on personal knowledge.

2. I am 43 years old. I live at Ozanam Homeless Shelter in New Orleans, LA. I have been living at the shelter since August 2015.

3. I volunteer at Ozanam Homeless Shelter about sixty (60) hours a week in the kitchen. I volunteer cleaning tables, setting people up to eat, working at the front desk, and keeping the center organized. I get a weekly stipend of$15. I have no other source of income.

4. Before I was incarcerated I worked on and off in construction for many years. I came to Ozanam Homeless Shelter soon after I was released in August, 2015.

5. In September 2015, I applied for food stamps at the Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS) local office. I was approved for $194 per month.

6. I recall that when I met with a DCFS caseworker during my application process, I was told that I would receive food stamps for only three (3) months unless I got a job or enrolled in school.

7. My caseworker did not ask me ifl was doing volunteer work during the initial application. No one at DCFS told me during my application process that my volunteer work at Ozanam Homeless Shelter might make me eligible to keep getting food stamps after the three month period. For this reason, I did not report this information to my caseworker.

8. I received food stamps in October and November 2015.

9. In December 2015, I got a letter from DCFS telling me that my foods stamps will end because I am not meeting work requirements.

10. When I got the December letter, I immediately went to Job One to register for work. I have not yet been called for work. When I get paid work, I do not know how to go about letting DCFS know that I am working and meeting the work requirements, so that my food stamps can continue.

11. On December 15, Sima Atri from the New Orleans Workers' Center for Racial Justice told me that I should submit record of my volunteer hours to DCFS so that they could see that I have been working over 20 hours a week. I did not know I should have been doing this but I have now recorded my hours and they have been verified by Ozanam Inn and I will send them to DCFS.


12. I need my food stamps to help me survive. I already live in a shelter because I cannot afford rent. I do not know what I will do when I have no money to pay for food.

13. I am willing to serve as a class representative in this lawsuit on behalf of myself and other low-income individuals living in Louisiana who face the loss of SNAP benefits to which they are entitled.

14. My lawyers have informed me of my responsibilities as a class representative.

15. As a representative of a plaintiff class harmed by the same unlawful conduct, I am willing to protect and advance the interests of the plaintiff class rather than acting in my sole interest.


Dated: r-,-v1- \I;)	Signed: 1ia1
Brian Trinchard
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DECLARATION

I, Greg  	,hereby swears under pains and penalties of perjury as follows:

1. I make the following statement based on personal knowledge.

2. I am 30 years old with no dependents. I live in New Orleans, LA at Ozanam Inn.

3. On November 25, 2015, I applied for food stamps. I received a call the next week about my application. My caseworker explained that as of October, there were new work requirements for food stamps so I would have to work 20 hours a week continue getting food stamps passed three months. I told the worker that I did not think I would have a job in three months because it can take time to fiud work. I also told her that I am homeless and asked whether this would impact the work requirements. I have been homeless for 6 months. She said no, and that I would have to work or lose my food stamps.

4. The caseworker told me that I would have to prove that I am working. She didn't tell me how I would show this proof.

5. My caseworker also did not explain that volunteering could qualify as work. I volunteer 60 hours a week at Ozanam Inn.

6. On December 7th, I received paperwork saying I qualified for food stamps. I also received the ABAWD work requirements notice stating I would have to work 20 hours a week in order to remain eligible. I was worried and wanted to figure out what was going on because I do not have a job right now.

7. On December 14'", I called Sima Atri, from the New Orleans Workers' Center for Racial Justice. She explained that I should record my volunteer hours because they would qualify as work. She also said that I should send this to DCFS to prove that I am meeting the work requirements. I have started recording my work hours and will send them to DCFS every month.

8. Based on the notice, it was unclear that I could do volunteer work in order to not lose my food stamps. It was also unclear what a "work program" was. I work at the front desk at Ozanam Inn so I see what mail comes in for other homeless residents in this shelter. It seems like many people are getting these notices and I do not think people know what they mean. I don't even think they uuderstand that many will lose their food stamps in January.

9. The food stamps office also knows that I am homeless. I gave Ozanam Inn as my address when I applied and I was living there before I applied for food stamps. The caseworker did not ask me questions about my homeless status.

10. I have not yet received a closure notice since I have just started my first month of food stamps. I hope that because I am recording volunteer hours, I will be complying with the work requirements.

11. I was approved for food stamps on December 7th but on December 17th, I have yet to receive my card still. I am supposed to get $194 per month in food stamps in December.

12. I have no income right now and really need these food stamps until I can find a full-time job. I want to work, it just takes time to find work.



[image: ]Dated: /2-17.- 201$""







DECLARATION

I, Kim Piper, hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the following is true and correct:

1. I make the following statements based on personal knowledge.

2. I am very active and involved in my community and have helped people my whole life. I am the President of the Iberville Resident Council in New Orleans and served on the Iberville redevelopment working team. I was a resident in Iberville for over 30 years, and have lived in the Ninth Ward for the last two years.

3. Some of what I do to help people in my community is providing rides to seniors to go to the food bank, helping people find housing, representing residents and our interests at Housing Authority of New Orleans (HANO) meetings, and helping young mothers obtain food stamps and childcare assistance.

4. In helping people with their food stamp applications, I have heard a lot of complaints about the way the food stamp office processes applications and recertifications, and have also experienced some of these problems directly.

5. The most common complaint I hear is that the food stamp office does not receive information that people send them. Whether sent in by mail or by fax, many times when people send in the information the food stamps office has asked for, the food stamp office says they have not received it.

6. One young woman I work with faxed her information to the food stamp office, and was told they had not received it. She told her caseworker that she had a copy of her fax confirmation sheet, and the caseworker told her that did not matter.

7. I have personally mailed information as part of a young woman's food stamp application, and the food stamp office told her they did not receive it.

8. If the food stamp office does not receive information they requested for an application or recertification, the office will cut off the person's food stamps. The person then has to start the application process over again, which can take 30 days. During those 30 days, the person is not receiving any food stamps and their children are hungry for a month.

9. It is also difficult sometimes for people to get more copies of documents they have already collected and sent to the food stamp office. For example if a person sent in their paystubs and the food stamp office lost them, they do not have another copy of them to send in again.

10. Another problem for my community is the requirement to have a phone interview for applications or recertifications. In the past a person could interview in person

at the food stamp office, but this is no longer allowed. This is a big problem because a lot of the people in my community do not have a phone, making it very difficult to complete a necessary step in the application or recertification process.

11. The food stamp offices in New Orleans are not effective at working with members of my community or having policies that work well at getting people their food stamps.


Dated: fu.	l] , ;),o1,:,-

Signed:		½o Y,.'fl o rs)
Kim Piper




DECLARATION

I, Kenitha Williams, hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the following is true and correct:

1. I make the following statements based on personal knowledge.

2. I work at the Lantern Light project, part of the Rebuild Center of St. Joseph's Church in New Orleans. The Rebuild Center provides a setting, resources, and opportunities for collaboration among Catholic and other faith-based organizations in the City ofNew Orleans for the service of those in need. The services we provide include serving lunch daily, providing showers, restrooms, laundry, and toiletries, running a food pantry, and assisting individuals in finding employment.

3. The Rebuild Center assists homeless men and women in finding jobs. We post job openings on our job board, and assist people in looking for job openings, writing resumes, and filling out job applications. We also provide computers and internet access for people to apply for the increasing number of jobs that only accept online applications.

4. I work with a lot of who have had a really hard time finding a job. They very much want to work but are unable to find employment.
5. I work with clients who have come to the center frequently over the past year and applied for many jobs, and still have not been hired after a year of applying.
6. I know a lot of unemployed people in our area will lose their food stamps as a result of the state's refusal to continue to give nutrition assistance to the unemployed. Because of that, we expect to have a significant increase in requests for food boxes after January 1, 2016. We have barely been able to keep up with requests for food all year long during 2015. Second Harvest Food Bank, which supplies food to programs like ours, is already overwhelmed by the need, so we have had to look elsewhere for donations -
· local churches and schools. People losing their food stamps will be forced to depend more on food pantries like ours, as well as soup kitchens and other feeding programs.

7. Existing job training programs do not adequately serve the homeless population.

8. Some job training programs, such as the one offered by the Goodwill, require participants to have a birth certificate. Many homeless people do not have their birth certificate. The Rebuild Center assists people in obtaining copies of their birth certificate, but the process can be very lengthy, more than three or four months, especially if the person was born outside the state of Louisiana. For homeless people without any form of identification, the process of obtaining a birth certificate is longer.

9. A job training program that would truly benefit the population I serve would include an offer of employment from a company upon completing the program. Existing job







training programs often require participants to jump through a lot of hoops and do not succeed in placing people with an actual job.

10. Homeless individuals do not have mailing addresses, which causes difficulty in obtaining food stamps. The ability to receive mail from the food stamps office is necessary in order to successfully complete an application or recertification application for food stamps.

11. The Rebuild Center offers the service that homeless individuals can use our mailing address to receive mail from the food stamps office. However, because of our resource limitations we are not able to hold all mail indefinitely, so individuals must check with us at least once every six weeks to receive mail. Many homeless individuals are transient and unable to check with us that frequently. We occasionally have to return mail to the food stamp office if an individual has not come to claim their mail in more than six weeks.

12. The Rebuild Center currently has more than 200 individuals signed up to receive mail at our address. Our clients have also told us that workers at the food stamps office have told them they can receive mail at the Rebuild Center, without speaking to Rebuild Center staff or signing up for our mail service.

13. Even if an individual is able to receive their mail from the food stamps office, there are still often problems in applying or recertifying for food stamps. The population I serve experiences frequent frustrations and delays in their interactions with the food stamp office. Often times with the food stamp office it seems that the right hand doesn't know what the left hand is doing.

14. Clients tell me that it can take up to 1-2 months to receive their food stamps card after their application has been approved.

15. A required step in the application and recertification processes is a phone interview with a caseworker. In the past, these interviews could take place in person in the food stamps office, but now they are required to be over the phone. However, many people do not have phones.

16. Another common problem I hear from my clients is that they receive notice of their interview date after that date has already passed. And if the notice of the interview does arrive before the interview date, often the caseworker does not actually call at the date and time stated on the interview notice, but later in the day or the next day.

17. Many clients have also told me that the food stamp office does not receive paperwork that individuals send it. Many people have told me that they faxed paperwork to the food stamps office for their application or recertification and the office claimed they never received it. I have helped people fax information to the food stamp office from our fax machine at the Rebuild Center, and seen them successfully fax the same information five or six times, only to have the food stamp office say that they have not received it.







18. The decision to add a work requirement for adults to receive food stamps will only exacerbate the problems faced by the homeless population of New Orleans. Food Stamps are desperately needed by the population of homeless men and women that the Rebuild Center serves.


DECLARATION

I, Colette Tippy, hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the following is true and correct:

1. I make the following statements based on personal knowledge.

2. I am an organizer with STAND with Dignity, a membership-based project of the New Orleans Workers' Center for Racial Justice in New Orleans. The New Orleans Workers' Center is a non-profit advocacy organization that works to defend the rights of low­ income workers and to increase community participation in public policy initiatives.

3. I have been working with low-income residents in New Orleans since 2006.

4. STAND works with low-wage and unemployed workers to provide know your rights education, to defend the rights of community members, and to promote just, equitable, and inclusive public policy. Stand's members include public housing and Section 8 tenants, formerly incarcerated community members, men and women, young and old, working together to address the Black Jobs Crisis in New Orleans.

Statistics show fifty-two percent of Black men are out of work in New Orleans. My experience confirms that it is very difficult for workers to find and keep a permanent job in this economy doing low-wage work, and especially hard to keep full time work.

5. My understanding is that the new work requirements will affect over 7000 New Orleans residents. The loss of benefits will not only hurt residents who rely on the support, it will hurt our city's economy since food stamps recipients use their benefits in local businesses.

6. STAND has at least four members who received notice that their food stamps would be cut off on January 1, 2016, if they are not able to meet new work requirements. Two of these members are receiving their mail from the food stamps office at our office because they are homeless or marginally housed.

7. I have reviewed the letters our members received, and they do not include language about possibility of doing volunteer work to satisfy the new work requirement. The members who received these letters were not aware of how to comply with the new requirements when they received the letter, and are still not clear about what they need to do to comply now.

8. STAND members and other low-income people I have spoken with have told me that the food stamps office is not effective in the way they process applications and re­ certifications.

9. The food stamps office has an ineffective system for receiving communications from people applying and recertifying. I have talked to numerous people who were cut off from their food stamps because the food stamps office claimed they did not receive a

communication from a recertification, whether sent by fax or email or submitted online or in person when the recipients did in fact provide the necessary notification.

10. Many food stamp recipients I have spoken to have never seen their caseworker in person.

11. I have not met anyone who was given an individual assessment to determine if they are in fact subject to the new work requirement.

12. Residents I have spoken to understand that the state's decision to not request a waiver of the work requirements is based in the goal of incentivizing people to work. I have been working with low-wage workers to increase employment opportunities for almost a decade, and I do not believe this approach will work. It will instead cause more harm to vulnerable people.

13. The notice provided to persons identified by DCFS as ABAWDs does not direct recipients to appropriate training programs or resources for job placement. The state's stated interest in this program will not be served by this type of notice which does not provide additional employment opportunities to recipients. New Orleans needs jobs, and needs jobs that actually pay a living wage and are enough to actually support a family. Those opportunities are very difficult to find in Louisiana.

14. [image: ]STAND is eager to work with the State to apply for Employment and Training funds, and would like to work together to design better programs that actually work. An effective job training program places graduates in jobs. Training programs should offer guaranteed employment upon completion. The state should create these types of training programs; but they should not be created at the expense of critical baseline supports like the SNAP program.

[image: ]Dated:

Declaration under 28 USC 1746

I, Don Everard, do state under penalty of perjury of the laws of the US that the following is true and correct.
1. I have been the Director of Hope House, a catholic social service agency in the Irish Channel of New Orleans for 30 years.  Hope House was founded by members of the Sisters of  Mercy in 1969 and has been serving poor and working people of our neighborhood and city continuously since then. We have a food pantry that provides emergency food boxes for neighbors in need of food. We provide direct assistance to people facing eviction or utility turn off. We provide very affordable housing for low income households. Our job coach helps people find employment or enroll in college.  We serve coffee and pastry to  homeless people three mornings each week.  We also operate a GED program.
2. Hope House sees a lot of people because our poverty rate in New Orleans is so high with more than one in every four people living in poverty. Loyola University estimated in 2013 that only 48 percent of African American men in New Orleans are employed.
3. As a result of working with poor people in our city for decades, I am personally familiar with hundreds of people who rely on SNAP food stamps to feed themselves or their families. Many are long term unemployed and many do not have stable living arrangements. Most are people who have tried very hard to support themselves by working over the years. But they struggle because of literacy challenges, inadequate educational opportunity, inadequate availability of care for physical and mental health issues, and the fact that unemployment is very high in our city. The homeless and those without stable housing have their days consumed with just trying to survive. They cannot get regular jobs when they carry their clothing and possessions around with them.
4. I know a lot of unemployed people in our area will lose their food stamps as a result of the state's refusal to continue to give nutrition assistance to the unemployed. Because of that, we expect to have a significant increase in requests for food boxes after January 1, 2016. We have barely been able to keep up with requests for food all year long during 2015. Second Harvest Food Bank, which supplies food to programs like ours, is already overwhelmed by the need, so we have had to look elsewhere for donations - local churches and schools. People losing their food stamps will be forced to depend more on food pantries like ours, as well as soup kitchens and other feeding programs.
5. The decision not to seek SNAP benefits for the unemployed from the federal government will only add to a hunger crisis that already exists. And food pantries and feeding programs are already struggling to provide food to needy families. Nobody wins in this situation.
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